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ZONING CHANGE REVIEW SHEET 
 
CASE NUMBER: C14H-2010-0023 HLC DATE:  June 28, 2010 
 PC DATE:   
     
APPLICANTS:  Clay and Mollie Duckworth, owners 
 
HISTORIC NAME:  Knippa-Huffman House 
 
WATERSHED:  Shoal Creek 
 
ADDRESS OF PROPOSED ZONING CHANGE:  2414 Harris Boulevard 
 
ZONING FROM:  SF-3 to SF-3-H 
 
SUMMARY STAFF RECOMMENDATION:  Staff recommends the proposed zoning change 
from family residence (SF-3) district to family residence – historic landmark (SF-3-H) 
combining district zoning. 
 
The Knippa-Huffman House meets the criteria of architectural and historical significance 
in that it is an excellent example of Italian Renaissance-style villa architecture, and was a 
spec house for the Pemberton Heights Subdivision to serve as a model for future 
architecture in the neighborhood, as well as the home of A.C. Knippa, who founded Kash-
Karry, Austin’s first local self-service grocery chain, and Calvin Huffman, a prominent state 
representative who was instrumental in the designation of Big Bend National Park. 
 
HISTORIC LANDMARK COMMISSION ACTION:   
 
PLANNING COMMISSION ACTION:   
 
DEPARTMENT COMMENTS:  The house is beyond the bounds of the Comprehensive 
Cultural Resources Survey (1984). 

CITY COUNCIL DATE:     ACTION: 
 
ORDINANCE READINGS: 1ST  2ND 3RD    ORDINANCE NUMBER: 
 
CASE MANAGER:  Steve Sadowsky     PHONE:  974-6454 
 
NEIGHBORHOOD ORGANIZATION:  Pemberton Heights Neighborhood Association 
 
BASIS FOR RECOMMENDATION: 
Architectural Description:  
Two-story rectangular-plan, hipped-roof, brick Italian Renaissance-style villa with a tile 
roof, 5-bay façade consisting of a round-arched bay at the left of the ground floor containing 
multi-light infill, and a series of four French doors, each with a pair of shutters on the 
ground floor.  The round-arched bay on the left side of the façade was once an open 
sunporch which has been infilled.  Fenestration on the second floor consists of casement 
windows, each with a pair of shutters.  The eaves of the house are prominent, with carved 
wood brackets.  The house has a “European flagpole” across the front, consisting of a 
horizontal pole resting on brackets.  The house is especially notable for having an integral 
two-car garage, a true rarity for the time of its construction in 1928. 
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Historical Associations: 

The house is believed to have been built as a spec house by the Austin Development 
Company in 1928.  The Austin Development Company developed Pemberton Heights in the 
mid-1920s after completion of the concrete bridge across Shoal Creek allowed access and 
development on the bluff on the west side of the creek.  This house represents the epitome 
of the type of house the Austin Development Company planned for their Pemberton 
subdivision, and the company specified in deeds the size, value, and placement of houses 
within the new subdivision.  The Austin Development Company sold the property in July, 
1928 to Mrs. Texie Finley Riley, whose husband, J.B. Riley, was the company’s sales 
manager.  It is unclear if the Rileys ever lived in the house; the city directory for 1928 
shows them living on Enfield Road, but they paid over $15,000 for the property, which 
indicates that the house was in existence at the time the Rileys purchased it.  The Rileys 
deeded the property back to the Austin Development Company in April, 1929, for a small 
sum and for cancellation of their mortgage.  The Austin Development Company then sold 
the property to Adolph C. and Margaretha Knippa in August, 1929.  The Knippa family 
lived in the house until 1952, when they sold it to Ernest W. and Harriet B. Jackson.  
Ernest W. Jackson was the president of the Steck Company, Austin’s largest office supply 
and office furniture store.  It is also unclear whether the Jacksons ever lived in the house; 
they sold it in 1953 to John and Donna Van Cronkhite.  The Van Cronkhites made many 
renovations to the house, including the removal of the original entry from the center of the 
front façade, relocating it to what had been the sun porch in the south bay of the façade, 
and infilling the sun porch.  They sold the house in 1958 to Calvin C. and Olive W. 
Huffman, whose heirs sold the house in 2009 to the current owners, Clay and Mollie 
Duckworth. 

The first known residents of the house were A.C. and Margaretha Knippa.  Adolph C. 
Knippa was born at Swiss Alp, Texas and moved to Austin while still a teenager.  With his 
brother-in-law, he established the Ritter and Knippa Grocery Store at what is now I-35 and 
Manor Road in 1910.  He went out on his own by 1913, establishing the Sunshine Store on 
23rd Street (now Manor Road).  Knippa was a pioneer in the grocery business in Austin.  
With the development of national chain stores such as Piggly Wiggly and the A&P, Knippa 
opened his own grocery store at 7th and Congress in the same model as the national chains, 
which had moved into the Austin market in 1918.  Knippa named his store the Kash-Karry 
Grocery, which differed from the city’s older grocery stores in that rather than customers 
placing orders, carrying a credit account at the store, and having the groceries delivered to 
them, the customers came into the store, chose their own grocery items, paid for them on 
the spot, and carried them home.  Knippa was very successful in this model, and began 
opening stores in other sections of town, making him Austin’s first local chain grocer.  His 
Kash-Karry stores featured fresh fruit, vegetables, and eggs, and a meat market all under 
the same roof, whereas in earlier times, shoppers would buy each of these commodities in 
separate, specialty shops.  The Knippas were very active in religious and philanthropic 
circles; A.C. Knippa donated the money for the Spanish tile in the lobby of Kilian Hall at 
Concordia College.  A.C. Knippa passed away in 1973 at his home on Duncan Lane near the 
former Concordia campus; Margaretha Knippa died a year later. 

The Knippas sold the property in 1952 to Ernest W. and Harriet Jackson, but it is unclear 
as to whether the Jacksons ever lived in the house.  Born in Goldthwaite, Texas, Ernest W. 
Jackson had his own school supply business, which merged with the E.L. Steck Company of 
Austin in 1921.  Steck had the largest office supply and office furniture business in town.  
Jackson became the vice-president and general manager of the Steck Company in 1932, 
president of the company in 1952, and chairman of the board in 1957.  The Jacksons sold 
the house in 1953 to John and Donna Van Cronkhite, who moved to Austin from Harlingen 
in 1949, when Van Cronkhite became Governor Allen Shivers’ executive assistant.  They 



A.7 - 3 
sold the house in 1958 when they moved out of Austin to become the producer and general 
manager of the National Finals Rodeo, which he established. 

Calvin and Olive Huffman purchased the house from the Van Cronkhites.  Huffman grew 
up in Eagle Pass, where he became the editor and publisher of the Eagle Pass Daily Guide 
newspaper.  He was elected to the Texas House of Representatives in 1940, and moved to 
Austin.  During his two terms in the House, Huffman was responsible for designating Big 
Bend National Park.  He later went into a private law practice, specializing in insurance 
law.  After his death in 1980, Olive Huffman continued to live in the house until her death 
in 2008.  Olive Huffman was very active in various civic and charitable organizations, 
including the Austin Symphony League, Laguna Gloria, and the Settlement Club.  She was 
also a charter member of the Austin Lawyers Wives Club.  The current owners, Clay and 
Mollie Duckworth, purchased the house from Mrs. Huffman’s heirs in 2009.  Clay, a native 
Austinite, obtained his mechanical engineering degree and MBA from the University of 
Texas.  After working for Dell in engineering and supply chain management, he established 
his own businesses dealing with real estate, construction, and development.  Mollie 
Duckworth is also a graduate of the University of Texas, and obtained her J.D. from the UT 
School of Law in 2005.  She is a corporate and securities attorney. 

PARCEL NO.:  01150105030000 
 
LEGAL DESCRIPTION:  Lot 8 and the South 30.625 feet of Lot 9, Block 1, Pemberton 
Heights Section 1. 
  
ESTIMATED ANNUAL TAX ABATEMENT: $12,241 (owner-occupied); city portion: $2,145 
(capped). 
 
APPRAISED VALUE:  $1,019,244 
 
PRESENT USE:  Residence 
 
CONDITION:  Excellent 
 
PRESENT OWNERS:   
Clay and Mollie Duckworth 
2414 Harris Boulevard 
Austin, Texas 78703 
 
DATE BUILT:  ca. 1928 
 
ALTERATIONS/ADDITIONS:  The original central entryway, with a massive door carved 
by Peter Mansbendel, was infilled with a set of French doors and the entry moved to the 
round-arched infilled sunporch.  The open deck on the back of the house was infilled to 
create living space.  The current owners are seeking to restore the original appearance of 
the house. 
 
ORIGINAL OWNER(S):  Austin Development Company (1926) 
 
OTHER HISTORICAL DESIGNATIONS:   None. 
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LOCATION MAP 
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Knippa-Huffman House 
2414 Harris Boulevard 

ca. 1928 
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View of the southwest corner of the house showing the original integral garage and the 
enclosed second-story back porches. 
 

 
1927 rendering of the house 
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1930s view of the house shows the open sun-porch on the south side of the house and the 

door in the center of the façade.. 
 

 
Enclosing the sun-porch on the south side of the house (1954) 
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View of the front of the house (1957) 
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View of the back of the house (1954); the back porches have since been enclosed. 
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Knippa family, early 1930s 

 
 
 

 
Knippa family, 1950 
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John and Donna Van Cronkhite 

 
 

 
 
Huffman family party in the front of the house – early 1960s.  Note the Mansbendel door. 
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Conceptual sketch for restoration of the historic façade 

 


